FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
5/28/2021 10:35 AM

No. 99832-9

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/28/2021 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeal Cause No. 80484-7

HUY YING CHEN and YUEH HUA CHEN, Husband and Wife,

Petitioner

v.

### **IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

Petitioner, CHEN, HUY-YING (hereinafter referred to as "Petitioner" or "Chen"), respectfully requests that this Honorable Court review the Court of Appeals' Decision rendered in Cause No. 80484-7-I.

#### CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner attaches as "Appendix A," the Court of Appeals March 1, 2021 order and as "Appendix B," the order denying Motion for Reconsideration, entered by the Court of Appeals on April 30, 2021.

### ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(2), Division I's decision conflicts with this Court's opinion in *Hazel v. Van Beek*, 954 P. 2d 1301, 135 Wash. 2d 45, 135 Utah, rev. 1998, thereby creating a split in the Divisions of the Courts of Appeals that a Sheriff's Deed issued without confirmation of sale.
- 2. Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(2), Division I's decision conflicts with the opinion in *American Trucking Assns., Inc. v. Frisco Transp. Co.*, 358 US 133, 79 S. Ct. 170, 3 L. Ed. 2d 172 Supreme Court, 1958, thereby creating a split in the Divisions of the Courts of Appeals I regarding certain clerical errors.
- 3. Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(2), Division I's decision conflicts with the opinion in *Miebach v*. *Colasurdo*, 685 P. 2d 1074, 102 Wash. 2d 170, 102, which creates a split in the Divisions of the Courts of Appeals that is sufficient to justify a decree setting the sale aside on equitable grounds.
- 4. Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(2), Division I's decision conflicts with the opinion in *Seattle-First Nat'l Bank v. Kawachi*, 588 P. 2d 725, 91 Wash. 2d 223 Wash: Supreme Court, 1978,

which was properly a part of the matter in controversy, but it does not bar litigation of ... do out of transactions entirely separate and apart from the claim adjudicated...the parties involved were not necessarily involved in that adjudication and are not barred under the doctrine of res judicata.

- 5. Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(2), Division I's decision conflicts Court of Appeal Washington Division Two. May 9, 1997, *Gabriele Westberg v. All-Purpose Structures*, thereby creating a split in the Divisions of the Courts of Appeals II that assigned to a bias against Pro Se litigants.
- 6. Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(2), Division I's decision conflicts with the Federal Court opinion in *United States of America v. Tacoma Gravel and Supply Co., Inc., et al.*, 376 F.2d 343 (9th Cir. 1967) thereby creating a split in the Divisions I of the Courts of Appeals that a federal order applied in Washington Court not applied for statute of limitation of 10 years but statue of extinguish of six years.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case initiated in King County Superior Court ("KCSC") on May 10, 2006, under Case No. 06-2-16117-3 and the case was "stayed" on March 21, 2007 (Sub Docket no. 70) after Petitioner filed Chapter 11 in the Bankruptcy Court of Western Washington Division I, under Case No. 07-01115 PHB. On November 29, 2007, the Bankruptcy Court issued an order of summary judgment without subject jurisdiction on mistaken Rooker-Feldman doctrine, <sup>1</sup> and Petitioner subsequently appealed to U.S. District Court, which quickly recalled his orders back into Bankruptcy Court of Western Washington Division I under Case No. 07-01115.

Petitioner argued that Respondents' foreign judgment brought into KCSC was invalid or the principle of *res judicata* must be barred into KCSC from that foreign judgment because the case been post as "stay" by an adversary case from original case (06-2-16117-3), which was established on May 10, 2006. If KCSC assumed This Bankruptcy Court summary judgement that order supposed went back to this Case No. 06-2-16117-3, not act as a foreign judgement at all. Either the foreign judgment or back to original Case No. 06-2-16117-3 is immaterial- they would all be void for statute of limitation for 10 years or statue of extinguish for 6 years life span. The COA overlooked this crucial fact.

The Rooker-Feldman doctrine deprives the bankruptcy court of subject-matter jurisdiction to review a state court decision and precludes federal jurisdiction if the relief requested in federal court would reverse or void a state court decision. Exxon Mobil Corp. v. Saudi Basic Industries Corp. - 544 US 280, 125 S. Ct. 1517, 161 L. Ed. 2d 454 - Supreme Court, 2005. The Rooker-Feldman doctrine merely recognizes that 28 U. S. C. § 1331 is a grant of original jurisdiction and does not authorize district courts to exercise appellate jurisdiction over state-court judgments, which Congress has reserved to this Court, see § 1257(a)."). The King County Superior Court denied Petitioner's motion for invalid sheriff sale and void sheriff deed without stated any reasons but obviously adopted Respondents' res judicata argument. The Court, in Seattle-First Nat'l Bank v. Kawachi 588 P. 2d 725, 91 Wash. 2d 223 - Wash: Supreme Court, 1978, found that ...adjudication and are not barred under the doctrine of **res judicata**. (emphasis added). The Bankruptcy Court found that the doctrine of res judicata would also preclude it from revisiting the State Court decision. Although Petitioner had argued that res judicata could not apply because the State Court decision was not incorporated into a foreclosure judgment before bankruptcy filing, the Bankruptcy Court noted that in the case of decisions that have not ripened into a judgment because of a bankruptcy filing, courts have held that a judgment is not always a condition to the application of res judicata.

### **Proceedings in Superior Court**

On July 13, 2018, Petitioner filed a quiet title action that lawsuit against JP Morgan Trust and on the same day filed a separate motion to invalid of sheriff sale and void sheriff deed in violation RCW 4.56. and RCW 6.17. The Sheriff's Deed must be set aside **without confirmation of sale**, *Hazel v. Van Beek*, 954 P. 2d 1301, 135 Wash. 2d 45, 135 Utah, rev. 1998. Even if not considering about that foreign judgement void as above "a" for BANKRUPTCY COURT lack of subject matter jurisdiction of *Rooker-Feldman* doctrine, Procedurally mistaken that CHEN's alleged this foreign judgment expired on November 29, 2017 by law, thereby prohibited the Court from confirming the sale because such the date of confirmation sale been stopped when a lien pass 10 years of statute of limitation or 6 years of statute of depose/ statute of extinguish after entry of the judgment, which is prohibited by RCW 4.56.210(1) or RCW 4.16.

### **The Court of Appeals Decision**

The Writ of Execution had not been completed via an order of confirmation sale and hearing of confirmation sale never been established. It was a clerical mistake that the COA record reflects that misled the COA. Respondents wrongfully represented that an order of confirmation of sale was entered by the lower court. Pursuant to the record of proceeding, regarding hearing of confirmation sale that Civil Judge Beth said clearly that she overruled were only for Petitioner's raised issues and not for motion for confirmation of sale. Therefore, Respondents were obligated to file a motion for confirmation of sale according RCW 6.24.100, which they never did. Thus the COA erred as a matter of law when it ruled that a confirmation of sale was properly entered and that Petitioner's claims were without merit.

The Court stated in its March 1, 2021 Opinion that: "A nunc pro tunc order allows a court to date a record reflecting its action back to the time the action in fact occurred." The court relied

on the case of *State v. Hendrickson*, 165 Wn.2d 474, 478, 198 P.3d 1029 (2009). This case is inapplicable to the case at bar. The COA erred as a matter of law because its action back to the time **the action in fact never occurred**. There are clear factual differences which make the *Hendrickson* case distinguishable from the case at bar.

#### ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

Trucking Assns., Inc. v. Frisco Transp. Co. 358 US 133, 79 S. Ct. 170, 3 L. Ed. 2d 172, which shows that the COA misconstrued the lower court's findings stated "overrule [Chen's] objections and confirm the sheriff's sale." It is clear from the record that there was a clerical error which leads the reader to believe that an order of confirmation was properly entered, when in fact, no order of confirmation was ever entered by the lower court. COA affirmed State Court order which denied Petitioner's motion to invalidate the sheriff sale and void sheriff deed because COA was misled by a clerical errors of court record. Although Petitioner lists this clerical error in his "motion for reconsideration," the COA still denied the motion. The clerical errors completely misled the original judgment the Superior Court intended to sign. An abstract of important clerical errors are listed below:

• The COA, affirming the lower court in its March 1, 2021 Opinion stated: "The record does not support Chen's claim. At the hearing on February 10, 2017, the superior court stated on the record that it would "overrule [Chen's] objections and confirm the sheriff's sale." It clearly proved none such record presented in hearing on February 10, 2017 by following this court's statement. Pursuant to the Statement of Arrangements, the following exchange took place during the February 10, 2017 hearing:

Page 36 line 25 THE COURT: Mr. Luhrs, do you have an...

**Page 37 line 1** ...do you have an order for the court to sign?

**Page 37 line 2-5** "....Your Honor, I do not. I did not know how exactly you wanted it presented, because this was not on our motion to confirm sale, so that procedurally it was little bit different"

Clearly the February 10, 2017 hearing was not held to hear the Respondents' motion to confirm foreclosure sale. The transcript shows that the additional exchange occurred:

**Page 38 line 16-20** THE COURT: So what I can do today is I can issue an order denying or overturning -- or overruling the objections, and then if -- then you'll just have to file, what, your separate motion to confirm?

### Page 38 lines 5-25 MS. MJAATVEDT: Yeah.

THE COURT: So what I can do today is I can issue an order denying or overturning -- or overruling the objections, and then if -- then you'll just have to file, what, your separate motion to confirm?

MR. LUHRS: That's correct, Your Honor. And a situation, hypothetically, that I would worry about is if Mr. Chen, or counsel on behalf of Mr. Chen, would later file an objection. Can we just have language that says that an objection has already

**Page 39 line 5-8** THE COURT: Mr. Luhrs, you wanted something, you wanted language that said what? That he can't relitigate the objections he's raised, that I've ruled on today?

MR. LUHRS: Correct,

- **Page 39 line 23-25** THE COURT: All right. So what I have written is, this matter came before the court on February 10, 2017. The court considered the pleadings and the record in the matter and the arguments of counsel, arguments of both parties, through the defendants' RCW 6.21.110 objections to the confirmation of a sheriff sale, plaintiff's response, and defendant's reply. Based on the foregoing, the objections raised by Mr. Chen pursuant to RCW 6.21.110 are overruled.
- **Page 41 line 3-8** THE COURT: So all I can say is I have denied all of the objections that you have raised and you'll have to determine if your appeal period begins from today or begins from the date of any order I might sign confirming the sale. That's something I'll leave to you to have to decide.
- **Page 41 line 11-13** *MR. LUHRS: And Your Honor, in that order you're just indicating that we're entitled to confirmation of the sale or something thereabouts?*

Page 41 line 19-25 THE COURT: Well, is there anybody else who's entitled to notice?

MR. LUHRS: That's my concern. I want to still file the motion, at the very least just in an abundance of caution for the purposes of notice and just for the purposes of compliance with the...

THE COURT: Well, but then I'm not sure that I should say that you're entitled to confirmation of the sale, because there might be other objections raised by other parties.

MR. LUHRS: Okay.

**Page 42 line 5-9** THE COURT: So I think that what I would rather do is, if you haven't filed your motion for confirmation of the sale, let's put that off until that motion is properly before me. What's properly before me is just ruling on Mr. Chen's objections.

It is absolutely clear that Respondents' Counsel fully understood this was not a hearing of confirmation sale but simply a hearing for the Court to consider the objections duly filed by Petitioner to the foreclosure sale. The COA misapprehended the weight of this exchange, which is clearly indicated in the Record of clerical error and no confirmation of sale be held.

# The underlying sheriff's deed is void because the judgment expired prior to the foreclosure sale.

According to the COA and Respondents, judgments rendered by a Washington court are enforceable for a period of 10 years, unless the party obtains an extension. RCW 6.17.020(1), (3). A foreign judgment filed in a superior court shall be treated in the same manner as a judgment of the superior court. RCW 6.36.025(1). Here, Chase obtained the judgment on November 29, 2007. The sale occurred on December 16, 2016, within the 10-year time limit. The judgment had not expired and was enforceable. The COA states in its Opinion that "The sale occurred on December 16, 2016, within the 10-year time limit...." This is a misapplication on the part of the COA because although writ execution for sheriff sale bid action on December 16, 2016, that does not mean the statutory requirements of a judicial foreclosure action were met by Respondents. On the contrary. A foreclosure sale becomes valid and complete only upon confirmation by the court. A bid at

sheriff sale is merely an offer to purchase that does not become binding <u>until confirmation</u>. The Record on Appeal in this case demonstrates that there is no order of confirmation. All the Record reflects is a questionable Ex Parte *nunc pro tunc* order, which was entered after the original judgment lien ceased and thus must be rendered void as a matter of law. Petition for review should be accepted.

The COA's opinion directly contradicts ruling by this Supreme Court opinion in Seattle-First Nat'l Bank v. Kawachi 588 P. 2d 725, 91 Wash. 2d 223, as the COA misconstrued the lower court's findings stated the original motion for sheriff sale invalid and void sheriff deed barred by the doctrine of res judicata. The COA stated "...not reach the Respondents' assertion that Chen's lawsuit is also barred by the doctrine of res judicata". Petitioner's claims in the foreclosure should not barred by res judicata. To make a judgment res judicata in a subsequent action there must be a concurrence of identity in four respects: (1) of subject-matter; (2) of cause of action; (3) of persons and parties; and (4) in the quality of the persons for or against whom the claim is made. Here, the subject matter and cause of action are completely different because a foreclosure sale of writ of execution cannot be same subject matter as a bankruptcy court summary judgement, which occurred beforehand and without confirmation of sale. If we apply Northern Pac. Ry. v. Snohomish Cy., supra, to the present case, we note only one of its four ingredients, i.e., a concurrence of subject matter and cause of action already differentiate the proceedings before. The other two ingredients of res judicata as delineated in Northern Pac. Ry., supra cannot meet "concurrence respects" therefore the doctrine of res judicata is not applicable. Petition for review should be granted.

Chen proffered an Expert Witness Report to the lower court, which was sufficiently made part of the Record in front of the COA. Chen respectfully submits that The Expert Witness Report

is sufficient to create legal arguments of standing / jurisdiction at the late stage and this Court took the easy route in affirming the lower court's erroneous ruling based on res judicata, etc. The Expert Witness Report clearly and physically found that Respondents were not an existent entity who cannot be a bona fade purchaser at the time it foreclosed on the subject property and attempted to acquire title. Their actions were deceitful and fraudulent. The COA chose to overlook this vital piece of material evidence, upon information and belief, due to Chen's pro se status. It is well established in Washington that the trial court "must treat pro se parties in the same manner it treats lawyers." Westberg v. All-Purpose Structures, Inc., 86 Wash.App. at 411, 936 P.2d 1175; cf. Bolte v. Third Ave. RR, 38 A.D. at 237, 239, 56 N.Y.S. 1038. It is submitted that Chen was not treated the same way, as it appears that an Expert Witness Report submitted by Counsel would have carried much more weight with the COA in adjudicating this matter than it did because Chen is acting pro se. Accordingly, Petition for review should be accepted."

## The court specified that it did not find sufficient evidence to establish that there were substantial irregularities in the Sheriff's Sale under RCW 6.21.110.

RCW 6.21.110 (3) states that: "If objections to confirmation are filed, the court shall nevertheless allow the order confirming the sale, unless on the hearing of the motion, it shall satisfactorily appear that there were substantial irregularities in the proceedings concerning the sale, to the probable loss or injury of the party objecting. In the latter case, the court shall disallow the motion and direct that the property be resold, in whole or in part, as the case may be, as upon an execution received as of that date."

The COA misconstrued the applicable portions of the Record which demonstrate that if Respondents had not filed its motion to confirm the sale on hearing, then the lower court could not have found sufficient evidence to establish whether or not substantial irregularities in the sheriff's

sale occurred under RCW6.21.110. The February 2017 hearing was not a hearing on any motion to confirm a sale. The purpose of the hearing, as admitted on the record by the lower court, was to hear Appellant's objections to the judicial foreclosure sale. The lower court purposely left open the possibility of Appellant or any other necessary party to file objections following the Respondents' filing of its motion to confirm sale.

The court indicated that pursuant to the statute relating to confirmation of execution sales, RCW 6.24.100, it is the judgment creditor or successful purchaser who moves for confirmation, rather than the judgment debtor. Respondents act as judgment creditor or successful purchaser no motion for confirming the sale before original foreign judgement expired its statutory life span. Sheriff deed should be void under RCW 4.56.210.

The Court's opinion in *State v. Hendrickson*, 165 Wn.2d 474, 478, 198 P.3d 1029 (2009) creates a split in the Divisions. A *nunc pro tunc* order "'may be used to make the record speak the truth, but not to make it speak what it did not speak but ought to have spoken" and due to Clerical error existent which misled the confirmation sale had been held cause of COA affirmed state Court order.

### The lower court's order confirming the sale nunc pro tunc to February 10, 2017 is Void.

The lower court incorrectly entered an order which Respondents construe as confirming the sale *nunc pro tunc* on February 10, 2018. This Court stated in its March 1, 2021 Opinion that: "A nunc pro tunc order allows a court to date a record reflecting its action back to the time the action in fact occurred." This court relied on the case of *State v. Hendrickson*, 165 Wn.2d 474, 478, 198 P.3d 1029 (2009). This case is inapplicable to the case at bar. The COA erred as a matter of law because its action back to the time the action in fact never occurred. There are clear factual differences which make the *Hendrickson* case distinguishable from the case at bar.

A retroactive entry is proper only to rectify the record as to acts which did occur, not as to acts which should have occurred." *Id.* at 641. A *nunc pro tunc* order "records judicial acts done at a former time which were not then carried into the record." " *State v. Petrich*, 94 Wn.2d 291, 296, 616 P.2d 1219 (1980). A *nunc pro tunc* order "may be used to make the record speak the truth, but not to make it speak what it did not speak but ought to have spoken." Based on the complete Record in this case, specifically the transcript of the February 17, 2017 hearing, Chen submits that the *nunc pro tunc* order dated February 10, 2018 is invalid. The order confirming the sale *nunc pro tunc* to the date of the hearing was invalid and the COA overlooked this significant and material fact which conclusively demonstrates.

The COA's opinion directly contradicts rulings of this Court when it misconstrued the lower court's findings stated that "Chen was incorrect in regard to King County Local Civil Rule 40.1(b)(1)(N)." and due to existing clerical error, the Opinion also improperly relies on to clerical error since the correction of a clerical error pending in COA which misled the issue of confirmation of sale. Thus, review by this Court is warranted.

## COA misapprehended the Record when it found that Chen was incorrect in regard to King County Local Civil Rule 40.1(b)(1)(N).

King County Local Civil Rule 40.1(b)(1)(N) states: *Post-Foreclosure Motions. Following* the entry of the order of foreclosure by the assigned judge, motions to confirm the sale and/or motions for an order to disburse funds shall be set in the Ex Parte and Probate Department and be presented in person with notice pursuant to LCR 7 (b) to all parties who have appeared. Following a foreclosure sale/auction, if no one purchases the property at auction, it becomes bank owned property. The bank can then list it on the open market with an agent or sell it at a liquidation auction. However, this can only happen following a legal and valid order of the Court confirming

the foreclosure sale. Here, that did not happen. To be clear, motions to confirm the sale via Ex Parte for KCSC LCR 40.1(b)(1)(N) cannot apply. Further, KCSC LCR 40.1(b)(1)(N) cannot substitute for a legally valid judicially confirmed sale. Petition for review should be granted.

The Court, in *Miebach v. Colasurdo*, 685 P. 2d 1074, 102 Wash. 2d 170, 102 set grounds to justify setting aside a decree on **equitable grounds**. COA misconstrued the lower court's findings stated that "Chen was incorrect when it stated: "Chen next argues that the sheriff's sale and deed should be set aside on equitable grounds because the property sold for only 40 percent of its fair market value." The Opinion also improperly relies which misled the confirmation sale had been held cause of COA affirmed state Court order. Petition for Review should thus be granted.

# COA mistakenly found that Chen was incorrect when it stated: "Chen next argues that the sheriff's sale and deed should be set aside on equitable grounds because the property sold for only 40 percent of its fair market value..."

The COA found that "the record shows that the property sold at public auction for \$926,834.20. Chen offers no evidence in the record to show that this price is inadequate." This was a misapprehension of standing precedent. Although inadequacy of price alone is generally insufficient to set aside a nonjudicial foreclosure sale, "a grossly inadequate purchase price together with circumstances of other unfair procedures may provide equitable grounds to set aside a sale." *Albice v. Premier Mortg. Servs. Of Wash., Inc.*, 157 Wn. App. 912, 933, 239 P.3d 1148 (2010). Here, the record shows that the property sold at public auction for \$926,834.20. As applied to *Albice v. Premier Mortg. Servs. Of Wash., Inc.*, 157 Wn. App. 912, 933, 239 P.3d 1148 (2010), *Albice/Teccas* argue that Dickinson was not a bona fide purchaser because (1) he knew or should have known about the defects in the sale and (2) the purchase price was substantially below the property's fair market value. Specifically, they argue the following circumstances gave Dickinson notice of flaws in the foreclosure proceedings: (1) Dickinson was "intimately familiar with real

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