FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/12/2021 12:24 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 99832-9

Court of Appeals No. 80484-7-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

HUY YING CHEN and YUEH HUA CHEN

Petitioners,

v.

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

V. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

A. Standard of Review

1. RAP 13.5 Applies Because the Opinion and Order Are Not Decisions Terminating Review

Chen cites RAP 13.4(b)(2), which governs discretionary review of decisions terminating review. Pet. at 4-5; *see also* RAP 13.4. However, Chen's Petition concerns (i) the Opinion; and (ii) the Order. Pet. at 4; Pet. Appx. A-B. Neither is a decision terminating review.

Under RAP 12.3(a) a decision terminating review must inter alia

terminate review "unconditionally." RAP 12.3(a)(2). Upon issuance of a decision terminating review, the Court of Appeals issues written notification to the trial court "of an appellate court decision terminating review." RAP 12.5(a). "No mandate issues for an interlocutory decision..." *Id.* Neither the Opinion nor the Order meet the requirements of a decision terminating review. Accordingly, the Opinion and Order are "interlocutory decisions." RAP 12.3(b) (noting an "interlocutory decision" is any opinion or order which is not a decision terminating review). Accordingly, RAP 13.5 applies.

Discretionary review of an interlocutory decision may only be granted pursuant to the criteria set forth in RAP 13.5(b):

- (1) if the Court of Appeals has committed an obvious error which would render further proceedings useless; or
- (2) if the Court of Appeals has committed probable error and the decision of the Court of Appeals substantially alters the status quo or substantially limits the freedom of a party to act; or
- (3) if the Court of Appeals has so far departed from the accepted and usual course of judicial proceedings, or so far sanctioned such a departure by a trial court or administrative agency, as to call for the exercise of revisory jurisdiction by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.5(b)(1)-(3). To reach this analysis, Chen must comply with the time requirement under RAP 13.5(a):

A party seeking review by the Supreme Court of an interlocutory decision of the Court of Appeals must file a motion for discretionary review in the Supreme Court and a copy in the Court of Appeals within 30 days after the decision is filed.

Chen fails to show that his Petition is timely under RAP 13.5(a). Chen also does not specify the basis on which this Court may grant discretionary review of the Opinion and the Order. Pet. at 4-5. The record shows that further review is unwarranted and untimely.

B. This Court Should Deny the Petition as to the Opinion Because the Petition is Untimely

Chen's reliance on RAP 13.4 is fatal to his Petition. Although RAP 13.4(a) permits extending the 30-day period for filing a petition for discretionary review of a decision terminating review upon the timely filing of a motion for reconsideration, RAP 13.5(a) does not. Because the Opinion and Order are not "decisions terminating review," Chen had to file his Petition within 30 days of each. The Opinion is therefore not subject to discretionary review because Chen filed his Petition on May 28, 2021—88 days after the Court of Appeals issued the Opinion on March 1, 2021.

C. This Court Should Deny the Petition as to the Order Because the Motion for Reconsideration was Improper

In response to the *Chen III* Opinion, Chen filed a motion for reconsideration pursuant to RAP 12.4. As he has done here, however, Chen incorrectly viewed the opinion as a decision terminating review. As relevant here, RAP 12.4 authorizes motions for reconsideration only as to a decision terminating review. RAP 12.4(a) ("A party may file a motion for reconsideration only of a decision by the judges (1) terminating review..."). Because the Opinion was not a decision terminating review, the Court of

Appeals correctly denied Chen's motion for reconsideration.

D. The Court Should Deny Discretionary Review Even if it Concludes That Chen's Petition is Timely

Chen asserts six reasons why discretionary review should be granted. He is wrong on each count for the simple reason that his reliance on RAP 13.4, and its different requirements for discretionary review, is misplaced. Even if the Court were to conclude that RAP 13.4 applies—which it should not—the reasons for review argued by Chen lack merit.

1. The Opinion Does Not Conflict with *Hazel*

Chen contends that the Opinion conflicts with *Hazel v. Van Beek*, 135 Wash. 2d 45 (1998). Pet. at 4, 7. Chen appears to assert that the Opinion differs from the holding in *Hazel* that all steps, including confirmation of sale, must occur before the judgment expires within the ten year period. Pet. at 7. Nothing in the Opinion is contrary to the holding in *Hazel*. Chen fails to identify any conflict in holdings. Indeed, the Court of Appeals held that all steps, including the last step of confirming the sale, occurred within the ten year period. *Chen v. JP Morgan Chase Bank*, 16 Wash. App. 2d 1049 ¶¶ 9-10 (explaining that the record does not support Chen's claim that confirmation occurred after the ten year period). Because the Court of Appeals considered whether all events occurred within the ten year period, it follows that the Court of Appeal's analysis tracked the holding in *Hazel* that all steps, including confirmation of sale, had to occur within the ten year period.

2. The Opinion Does Not Conflict with American Trucking

Chen also contends that the Opinion conflicts with *Am. Trucking Ass'ns v. Frisco Transp. Co.*, 358 U.S. 133 (1958). Pet. at 4, 8. There are several reasons why this contention fails to warrant discretionary review.

First, even if RAP 13.4(b)(2) applies, the United States Supreme Court decision in *American Trucking* is not "a published decision of the Court of Appeals." On this basis alone, discretionary review should be denied.

Second, *American Trucking* is inapposite. The issue on appeal was:

whether the Interstate Commerce Commission has the power to modify certificates of public convenience and necessity containing inadvertent errors, and, if so, whether, in the circumstances of these cases, the Commission could modify which had certificates inadvertently authorized the performance of unrestricted motor carrier services by a wholly owned subsidiary of a railroad.

Am. Trucking Ass'ns v. Frisco Transp. Co., 358 U.S. 133, 134 (1958). The case concerned "four of appellee's routes aggregating some 284 miles. Prior to appellee's purchase, each of the routes was serviced by an independent motor carrier which engaged in unrestricted motor carrier operations." Id. at 136. Here, at issue is whether Chen's motion to set aside the sheriff's sale was properly denied. The factual questions relating to this matter concern whether all steps for the sheriff's sale were completed within the ten year period for the judgment. American Trucking does not concern a sheriff's sale of real property to satisfy a judgment, and therefore, is

inapplicable here.

3. The Opinion Does Not Conflict with *Miebach*

Chen further contends that the Opinion conflicts with *Miebach v*. *Colasurdo*, 102 Wash. 2d 170 (1984). Pet. at 4, 15-17. At issue in *Miebach* was whether a grossly insufficient price paid at auction for real property was grounds to set aside the sale. The indebtedness at issue in *Miebach* was a \$1,300 note to purchase an automobile. *Id.* at 172. The creditor obtained a default judgment, searched for personal property to sell to satisfy the judgment, and after finding none, convinced the sheriff to sell the debtor's residence to satisfy the \$1,300 judgment. *Id.* at 172-73. The property sold to the judgment creditor, the only bidder, for \$1,340.02. *Id.* at 173. The court confirmed the sale and the successor in interest to the judgment debtor later moved to set aside the sale asserting "the gross inadequacy of the price paid" and "irregularities surrounding the sale." *Id.* at 175.

In the Opinion, the Court of Appeals acknowledged that "a grossly inadequate purchase price together with circumstances of other unfair procedures may provide equitable grounds to set aside a sale." *Chen v. JP Morgan Chase Bank*, 16 Wash. App. 2d 1049 ¶ 12 (citing *Albice v. Premier Mortg. Servs. Of Wash., Inc.*, 157 Wn. App. 912, 933 (2010)). However, the record showed "the property sold at public auction for \$926,834.20" and the court noted that "Chen offers no evidence in the record to show that this price is inadequate." *Id.* ¶ 12. There is no conflict between the Opinion and *Miebach*. Rather, Chen simply failed to show that the nearly \$1 million paid

at public auction was "grossly inadequate."

4. The Opinion Does Not Conflict with *Kawachi*

Chen next contends that the Opinion conflicts with *Seattle-First National Bank v. Kawachi*, 91 Wash. 2d 223 (1978). Pet. at 4-5, 11. The *Kawachi* opinion explains the limits of the doctrines of res judicata and collateral estoppel. *Seattle-First Nat. Bank v. Kawachi*, 91 Wash. 2d 223, 225–26 (1978). Specifically, the case confirms that "a judgment upon one cause of action does not bar suit upon another cause which is independent of the cause which was adjudicated." *Id.* at 226.

In the Opinion, the Court of Appeals did not reach the issue of whether the doctrine of res judicata bars *Chen III. Chen v. JP Morgan Chase Bank*, 16 Wash. App. 2d 1049 n.7 ("Because Chen's present attempt to litigate the foreclosure and sheriff's sale is legally and factually unsupported, we need not reach the Respondents' assertion that Chen's lawsuit is also barred by the doctrine of res judicata."). There can be no conflict between *Kawachi* and the Opinion because the Court of Appeal did not reach the issue of res judicata.

5. The Opinion Does Not Conflict with Westberg

Chen's assertion of a conflict between the Opinion and *Westberg v. All-Purpose Structures, Inc.*, 86 Wash.App. 405 (1997) also lacks merit. Pet. at 5, 12. Chen asserts that the trial court did not treat him the same way it would treat lawyers because it did not agree with Chen's expert's report that purported to support Chen's allegation that JPMorgan Chase Bank, as

Trustee is a fictitious entity. Pet. at 12. Without offering any basis, Chen speculates that the trial court would have assigned "much more weight" to the expert report had it been "submitted by Counsel." *Id.* Not so.

The Court of Appeals addressed the "expert report" proffered by Chen. Chen v. JP Morgan Chase Bank, 16 Wash. App. 2d 1049 ¶ 13. The court noted that Chen's purported expert admitted that he would need to review unseen documents to reach a conclusion as to whether "nonexistent entities without any legal standing to foreclosure" had obtained the property through the foreclosure. Id. The Court of Appeals noted, properly, that such "evidence" is not sufficient to demonstrate substantial irregularities. Indeed, such speculation cannot stand in for facts. The declaration of Paatalo contains admissions that he did not review documents that he felt were important. Any conclusions Mr. Paatalo offered in his report were necessarily speculative as a result. The Court of Appeal's response to Mr. Paatalo's declaration was not a matter of treating Chen differently because he is pro se; rather, it related solely to the substance (or lack thereof) of the report. Accordingly, there is no conflict between Westberg and the Opinion.

6. The Opinion Does Not Conflict with *Tacoma Gravel*

Finally, Chen asserts that the Opinion conflicts with *United States* v. *Tacoma Gravel & Supply Co.*, 376 F.2d 343 (9th Cir. 1967). Pet. at 5, 18.

Even if RAP 13.4(b)(2) applies, the Ninth Circuit decision in *Tacoma Gravel* is not "a published decision of the Court of Appeals." On this basis alone, discretionary review should be denied.

In addition, Chen contends that the time to satisfy a judgment is not ten years, but six years under *Tacoma Gravel*. *Id.* at 18. Chen's argument fails for the simple reason that RCW 4.56.210—the statute cited in *Tacoma Gravel* for the rule that a judgment ceases to be a lien after six years—was amended to lengthen the time period to ten years. Thus, RCW 4.56.210 now provides in salient part:

after the expiration of ten years from the date of the entry of any judgment heretofore or hereafter rendered in this state, it shall cease to be a lien or charge against the estate or person of the judgment debtor.

RCW 4.56.210(1). Indeed, the newer ten year period is expressly recognized in *Hazel*, which cites to RCW 4.56.210(1). *Hazel v. Van Beek*, 135 Wash. 2d 45, 53 (1998). Thus, there is no conflict.

VI. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Respondents respectfully request the Court deny Chen's Petition for Review.